A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

1. Robert Baker was denied his right to cut off police 

questioning as guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment and the broader 

protections of article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution. 

2. The court erroneously concluded Mr. Baker was not in 

custody until he was arrested despite the substantial limits on his 

freedom. CP 47 (Conclusions of Law 3, 4, 9.10).1 

3. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact 5, because its 

assertion that Mr. Baker understood his right to remain silent or have 

counsel's assistance is contrary to the evidence. CP 43. 

4. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact 15, to the extent it 

implies Mr. Baker understood his right to remain silent or have counsel 

without any Miranda warnings. CP 44. 

5. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact 19 because it 

incorrectly states that the police did not request that Mr. Baker tell them 

where he was going. CP 45. 

1 erR 3.5 findings of fact and conclusions of law are attached as 
Appendix A. 



6. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact 28 by 

mischaracterizing the nature of the lengthy interrogation process over 

several days. CP 46-47. 

7. The court improperly imposed an exceptional sentence based 

on the aggravating factor of victim vulnerability. 

8. The aggravating factor of victim vulnerability is 

impermissibly vague contrary to the requirements of due process. 

9. The prosecution improperly premised its request for an 

exceptional sentence based on factors not proven to the jury. 

10. Mr. Baker was denied his right to effective assistance of 

counsel at sentencing. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

1. A suspect's request to cut off questioning when police press 

him to provide incriminating evidence must be fully honored under the 

Fifth Amendment and the greater protections of article I, section 9. The 

police failed to fully honor Mr. Baker's unambiguous statement that he 

did not want to answer any questions after a lengthy interaction with 

investigating police. Did the police violate Mr. Baker's right to cut off 

questioning under the Fifth Amendment and article I, section 9 by 

2 



resuming questioning about the same incident despite Mr. Baker's 

request to cease interrogation? 

2. The trial court sidestepped the issue of Mr. Baker's right to 

remain silent by finding he was not in custody until formally arrested. 

But Mr. Baker was forced to wait outside his home while guarded by an 

armed police officer, not permitted to access any personal property such 

as his wallet, informed by the police they were getting a warrant to 

search his home, and later brought to the police station's interview 

room for further questioning. Was Mr. Baker's freedom of action 

substantially curtailed by the limitations the police placed on his 

freedom of movement to trigger the right to remain silent? 

3. The aggravating factor of a particularly vulnerable victim is a 

permissible basis for an exceptional sentence only when the victim has 

some disability that the perpetrator uses as a substantial reason in 

committing the offense. Kathie Baker was a healthy woman in her 50s 

who did not suspect that her husband might try to kill her. Was there 

insufficient evidence that Ms. Baker was more particularly vulnerable 

than typical and this vulnerability was a substantial factor in the offense 

as required to justify an exceptional sentence? 

3 



4. Sentencing is a critical stage at which counsel plays at 

important role. Mr. Baker's trial lawyer did not come to court for 

sentencing following Mr. Baker's conviction of first degree murder for 

which the State was seeking an exceptional sentence. Another attorney 

came to court who was uninvolved in the trial and said he had "no 

argument" for sentencing. Was the complete absence of a prepared 

attorney at sentencing a structural deprivation of counsel? 

Alternatively, does the ineffective assistance of counsel provided to Mr. 

Baker require a new sentencing hearing? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

In early June 2012, Kathie Baker's employer, who was based in 

Colorado, became concerned when she did not respond to messages. 

3RP 268.2 He called the Whidbey Island police and two uniformed 

officers drove to her home in separate cars. IRP 15, 17; 4RP 52; 

8/16/13RP 55, 65. They spoke with her husband, Robert Allen Baker, 

known as AI, who thought his wife was away on business. 8/16/13RP 

27, 58 . Lieutenant Evan Tingstad was suspicious and told Detective 

Laura Price to investigate. Id. at 8. 

4 



Detective Price and Officer Timothy Haugen went to Mr. 

Baker's workplace, a pizzeria that he and his wife owned, at about 1 

p.m. the next day. 8/16/13RP 10. They asked him to come to the police 

station to discuss his missing wife. !d. at 11. Mr. Baker agreed. Id. The 

officers questioned Mr. Baker for at least one hour about his wife's 

whereabouts. Id. at 13, 60. Mr. Baker agreed they could come to his 

home so he could retrieve banking and credit card records. Id. at 15-16. 

They drove separately to Mr. Baker's house and a third officer, 

Lieutenant Tingstad, met them there. Id. at 16, 32. Mr. Baker let the 

officers search his home while he spoke with Detective Price and 

showed her his bank records. Id. at 34-35. 

The officers saw a possible blood stain on the carpet, more 

stains in the bedroom, and found a comforter in the laundry room with 

additional blood-like stains. Id. at 33; 4RP 528. They questioned Mr. 

Baker in a persistent fashion. 8/16/13RP 34-35; 4RP 529-45. 

At about 6:30 p.m., Lieutenant Tingstad read Miranda warnings 

to Mr. Baker. 8/16/13RP 35. Mr. Baker said he did not want to answer 

"any more questions." Id. at 37. Lieutenant Tingstad told Mr. Baker he 

2 The verbatim report of proceedings (RP) from trial is consecutively 
paginated and is referred to by the volume number listed on the cover page. Any 
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could not re-enter his home because they were obtaining a search 

warrant. Id. at 39. He directed Officer Haugen to guard Mr. Baker. Id. 

at 37. Three hours later, Lieutenant Tingstad told Mr. Baker he would 

have to leave the property. Id. at 39. He said he would get Mr. Baker a 

single credit card and his driver's license from inside the home. Id. 

They called a taxi and asked Mr. Baker where he would spend the 

night. Id. at 39-40. 

The next morning, a team of forensic scientists and police 

investigators searched Mr. Baker's home. 1RP 75, 3RP 312, 4RP 655. 

They found Ms. Baker's body wrapped in a tarp on the property. 1RP 

80. She had two blows to the head and something had been pressed 

against her neck such as a ligature, both of which contributed to her 

death. 4RP 631-34. The time of death could not be established, nor 

could the medical examiner say which injury occurred first. 4RP 487, 

635. She had no defensive wounds. 4RP 501, 605. Her toxicology tests 

were negative and she had no other medical problems. 4RP 634. 

Lieutenant Tingstad and Officer Haugen went to Mr. Baker's 

hotel room after learning Ms. Baker had been killed. 8/16/13RP 41; 

4RP 547. They told him they needed to talk to him more. 8/16/13RP 41, 

other proceedings are referenced by their date. 
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63. He agreed to go with them to the police station. /d. at 41,63. 

Officer Haugen frisked Mr. Baker and put him in the rear seat of his 

patrol car. /d. at 63. They took him to the interview room at the police 

station and read him Miranda warnings. /d. at 43-44. Mr. Baker wrote a 

statement denying knowledge of Ms. Baker's whereabouts. Id. at 46; 

4RP 553-4. For the first time, he explained that he and his wife had 

separated and he had become interested in another woman, Lisa 

Schulte. 4RP 553. Lieutenant Tingstad pressed Mr. Baker to say more, 

telling him he knew he was lying. 4RP 565. Mr. Baker admitted that 

most of what he said the day before was a lie. 4RP 554. Ms. Schulte 

had arrived for a visit from Alaska on June 3, 2012, and she thought the 

Bakers had divorced. 5RP 820, 852. He insisted that he thought his wife 

had left town and he did not know where she was. 5RP 559, 561. He 

also explained that they never locked their doors and they had several 

workers building a deck who had free access on their property. 6RP 

976; see 3RP 16, 432. 

People who spent time with the Bakers in the spring of 20 12 

believed they were happy. IRP 12; 3RP 282. Two women who were 

employees at the Baker's pizzeria last saw Ms. Baker on Saturday June 

2,2012. 3RP 377, 397-98. The pizzeria celebrated its one year 
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anniversary and the Bakers were friendly and smiling. 3RP 376, 399. 

The employees spoke to Ms. Baker when they called their horne about 

the restaurant's receipts that night, as they did regularly. 3RP 380, 404. 

Ms. Baker had mentioned that she might have to go out of town for 

work, which was something she did regularly. 3RP 391. 

The State charged Mr. Baker with first degree murder 

committed with premeditated intent, as well as a deadly weapon 

enhancement and the aggravating factor of the victim's particular 

vulnerability. CP 39-41. 

He was convicted after a jury trial. CP 15-18. His attorney 

throughout trial, Thomas Pacher, failed to appear at Mr. Baker's 

sentencing hearing. 8/16/13RP 1; lRP 1; 8RP 1134. Another lawyer 

from Mr. Pacher's office carne to court, but that lawyer had admitted he 

was "not at all" up to speed on the case and he played no role in the 

trial. 2RP 228-29. The State requested an exceptional sentence of 600 

months above the standard range, which was 240-320 months based on 

Mr. Baker's offender score of"O." 8RP 137-38. Relatives and friends of 

Ms. Baker spoke about the depth of their loss, called Mr. Baker "evil," 

and asked the court to impose the maximum sentence possible. 8RP 

1140, 1142, 1144, 1146, 1149. The lawyer standing in for Mr. Pacher 
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told the judge he would not be "making any statement" about 

sentencing and also said that Mr. Baker would not make any statement 

on his own behalf. 8RP 1151. The court imposed an exceptional 

sentence of 600 months consecutive to a deadly weapon enhancement 

of24 months. 8RP 1159. 

Pertinent facts are addressed in more detail in the relevant 

argument sections below. 

D. ARGUMENT. 

1. The police improperly elicited statements from Mr. Baker 
after he invoked his right to remain silent 

a. Mr. Baker clearly invoked his right to cut off questioning 
and remain silent. 

When a person expresses "an objective intent to cease 

communication with interrogating officers," questioning must cease. 

State v. Piatnitsky, _ Wn.2d _,325 P.3d 167, 170 (2014); Miranda v. 

Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 479,86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966); 

u.S. Const. amend. 5; Wash. Const. art. I, § 9. Even if an accused 

person initially waives his right to silence, he may invoke his "right to 

cut off questioning" at any time. Miranda, 384 U.S. at 474. 

This is a "critical safeguard" of the privilege against self-

incrimination. Michigan v. Mosley, 423 U.S. 96,103,96 S.Ct. 321,46 
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L.Ed.2d 313 (1975) (citing Miranda, 384 U.S. at 474). The right to 

remain silent is "fulfilled only when the person is guaranteed the right 

'to remain silent unless he chooses to speak in the unfettered exercise of 

his own will. '" Miranda, 384 US. at 460 (quoting Malloy v. Hogan, 

378 US. 1,8,84 S.Ct. 1489, 1493, 12 L.Ed.2d 653 (1964)). 

When a person makes it "sufficiently clear" that he wishes to cut 

off questioning by the police, the police may not resume questioning 

about the same criminal investigation "unless the accused himself 

initiates further communication, exchanges, or conversations with the 

police." Edwards v. Arizona, 451 US. 477,485, 101 S.Ct. 1880,68 

L.Ed.2d 378 (1981). If an individual's right to cut off questioning is not 

"scrupulously honored," statements obtained after the suspect invoked 

his right to silence must be suppressed at trial. Mosley, 423 U.S. at 104. 

"[T]his inquiry is objective" and it is reviewed de novo. Piatnitsky, 325 

P.3d at 170; United States v. Santistevan, 701 F.3d 1289, 1293 (1oth 

Cir.2012). 

A suspect's statement "that he did not want to talk with police," 

would "invoke[] his right to cut off questioning." Berghuis v. 

Thompkins, 560 US. 370, 382,130 S.Ct. 2250, 176 L.Ed.2d 1098 

(2010). 
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Mr. Baker said, "I don't think 1 want to answer any questions 

any more questions." 81l61l3RP 37. The detective understood this 

statement as an invocation of his right to remain silent and stopped 

questioning him for a time. Id. But the police resumed questioning Mr. 

Baker the next morning about the same incident without acknowledging 

Mr. Baker had requested to end interrogation. 8116/13RP 63. Although 

they gave him Miranda warnings before this final round of 

questioning, these warnings do not permit the police to disregard his 

prior unequivocal request to cut off questioning. 

b. Once Mr. Baker told police he did not want to answer 
further questions, they were required to respect his right 
to remain silent. 

The right to cut off questioning must be scrupulously honored. 

Mosley, 423 U.S. at 104. Failing to honor the request sends the message 

that no invocation will shield the suspect from further interrogation, 

which undermines the right to remain silent. Id. at 106. 

In Mosely, the defendant was "carefully advised" before any 

questioning that he had "no obligation to answer any questions and 

could remain silent if he wished." 423 U. S. at 104. He received written 

and oral Miranda warnings. Id. After brief questioning about the 

robberies for which he was arrested, questioning ceased when he said 
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he did not want to answer questions about the robberies. /d. at 97, 104. 

Several hours later, another police officer questioned Mosely about an 

"unrelated holdup murder." /d. at 104. "He was given full and complete 

Miranda warnings at the outset of the second interrogation." Id. 

The subsequent questioning of Mosely "focused exclusively" on 

an unrelated incident "different in nature and in time and place of 

occurrence" from the robberies. Id. at 105. Based on these 

circumstances, the Mosely Court held that the later questioning "did not 

undercut Mosley's previous decision not to answer Detective Cowie's 

inquiries." Id. at 105. 

As the court stated in Miranda, when a person "has shown that 

he intends to exercise his Fifth Amendment privilege [ ] any statement 

taken after the person invokes his privilege cannot be other than the 

product of compulsion, subtle or otherwise. Without the right to cut off 

questioning, the setting of in-custody interrogation operates on the 

individual to overcome free choice in producing a statement after the 

privilege has been once invoked." 384 U.S. at 474. 

Although there are circumstances when the police may initiate 

questioning of a person who has invoked his right to remain silent, 

these circumstances are not present in the case at bar. Mr. Baker told 
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police that he did not want to answer any more questions. 8/ l6/13RP 

37. The police only respected this request for a few hours. The next day 

they said they needed more information from him. 8/16/13RP 41, 63. 

Before this final round of questioning, Mr. Baker had been 

questioned at length by the police for many hours as the police 

narrowed their investigation to believe he committed "a violent act" in 

his home against his wife. 8/16/13RP 38. He first answered questions 

from two uniformed police officers on June 7, 2012, when they visited 

his home. CP 42-43. The next day at about 1 p.m., another police 

detective and uniformed officer came to Mr. Baker's workplace and 

took him to the police station for further questioning, with Mr. Baker's 

consent. 8/16/14RP 11. Detective Price, Officer Haugen, and Mr. Baker 

spoke at the police station for "at least one hour," then Mr. Baker 

agreed to let the police come to his house where he could access his 

bank account and credit card passwords. 8/ l6/13RP 15. Lieutenant 

Tingstad also came to the house and the officers searched it while Mr. 

Baker answered Detective Price's questions. Id. at 33. 

The degree of blood in the home and Mr. Baker's inconsistent 

answers to Lieutenant Tingstad's questions led the officer to give 

Miranda warnings and prohibit Mr. Baker from re-entering his home. 
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8/16/13RP 35-37,39. It was 6:30 p.m. when Mr. Baker said he did not 

want to talk any further. Id. at 40.Mr. Baker stood by his truck for three 

more hours until the police ordered him to leave the scene. Id. at 38-39. 

He was guarded by Officer Haugen while the other officers remained 

inside the home, gathering information for a search warrant. Id. at 37-

39. Although he was not handcuffed, he was not permitted to take his 

car or any possessions beyond a jacket, his driver's license, and a credit 

card that the police retrieved from inside the house. Id. When the police 

ordered him to leave, they summoned a taxi and questioned Mr. Baker 

about where he would spend the night. Id. at 40. 

The next day, two uniformed police officers came to the motel 

where Mr. Baker spent the night. 8/16/13RP 41,55. They told him they 

"needed to talk to him." Id. at 63. Officer Haugen "patted him down for 

weapons and placed him in the patrol car." !d. Not until he was seated 

in the police station's interview room did he receive Miranda warnings 

and agreed to give a written statement, which was followed by further 

questioning, then he was arrested. Id. at 53. 

In sum, Mr. Baker had spent hours with the police and answered 

many questions before he was advised of his Miranda rights orally and 

promptly invoked his right to cut off questioning. 8/16/13RP 13, 16-18, 
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34-35. The trial court erroneously entered findings that Mr. Baker 

knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived his rights to remain 

silent and have counsel, without acknowledging that he had not been 

advised of those rights at the time. CP 43-44 (Findings of Fact 5, 15). 

The court also incorrectly found the police did not know where Mr. 

Baker was going when he was ordered to leave his horne. CP 45 

(Finding of Fact 19). They asked him where he was going and he told 

them, although he ended up staying in a nearby motel that the police 

easily located. 8116113RP 40. The court also found that the process of 

investigation and interrogation was not "overly long" or during "off 

hours," yet Mr. Baker experienced almost 12 hours of police 

questioning or waiting under police guard outside his horne, and was 

called a liar by the police. CP 46-47 (Finding of Fact 28); 4RP 565. The 

court's portrayal of the interaction is incorrect. 

Mr. Baker was not fully apprised of his rights before he was 

initially questioned, unlike Mosely. His final Mirandized statements 

carne after a long day of police questioning, including barring him from 

his horne or from accessing personal property. Although his later 

statements were preceded by Miranda warnings, "from his point of 

view the warnings carne at the end of the interrogation process." 
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Mosely, 423 U.S. at 106. By pressing him to answer more questions 

about the same incident after he invoked his right to remain silent, the 

police disregarded his clearly expressed request to cut off questioning 

about this incident and undermined his free choice. 

c. Mr. Baker was not free to leave when he requested that 
questioning cease. 

The right to remain silent when police officers seek 

incriminating evidence about a criminal investigation is triggered by 

custodial interrogation. "By custodial interrogation, we mean 

questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has 

been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action 

in any significant way." Miranda, 384 U.S. at 444. 

Contrary to the trial court's finding that Mr. Baker was not "in 

custody" until he was actually arrested, Mr. Baker was deprived of his 

freedom of action in a significant way by the time he invoked his right 

to cut off questioning. CP 47-48. Even though he was at his home and 

the questioning began voluntarily, the police gave him Miranda 

warnings based on the evidence they uncovered. 8/16/13RP 35. They 

would not allow him to go back inside his home. [d. at 37. Officer 

Haugen watched Mr. Baker while he stood outside for three hours. Id. 
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Mr. Baker had no access to his keys, driver's license, or wallet until the 

police ordered him to leave and gave him a single credit card and his 

driver's license. Id. at 41. Mr. Baker's freedom of action was curtailed 

in a significant way as defined by Miranda when he was taken out of 

his home and not allowed access to any of his property. 

Because interrogation was custodial for purposes of the privilege 

against self-incrimination, Mr. Baker was entitled to have his right to 

cut off questioning "fully honored." Miranda, 384 U.S. at 467. Instead, 

the police disregarded his request and initiated further questioning. This 

resumption of questioning "undermined" his "will to resist" and 

"compelled him to speak where he would not otherwise do so freely," 

in violation of his rights under the Fifth Amendment and article I, 

section 9. !d.

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