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

III. ARGUMENT 

A. The Trial Court Properly Ruled the Defendant's 
Statements to Police Were Non-Custodial on June 9, 
2012, and Admissible. 

1. The defendant was not subject to the constraints 
associated with formal arrest and was therefore not 
in custody when any of the statements to police were 
made and the statements were properly admitted. 

The Fifth Amendment protects an individual from compulsive self-

incrimination.9 The Washington Constitution's analogous provision, 

Article 1, Section 9, is coextensive with the federal constitution. State v. 

9 "No person ... shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against 
himself .... " U.S. Const. Amend. V. 
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Templeton, 148 Wn.2d 193, 59 P.3d 632 (2002); State v. Bledsoe, 33 

Wn.App. 720, 658 P.2d 674 (1983). 

Miranda warnings were designed to protect a suspect from making 

incriminating statements while in police custody. State v. Lorenz, 152 

Wn.2d 22, 36, 93 P.3d 133 (2004), citing State v. Harris, 106 Wn.2d 784, 

789, 725 P.2d 975 (1986). Miranda warnings are only required when a 

person is in custody and being interrogated by a state agent. State v. Post, 

118 Wn.2d 596, 605, 826 P.2d 172 (1992). 

The threshold questions that must be answered before determining 

whether Miranda compliance is necessary, is whether the defendant's 

statement is the product of interrogation that occurred in a custodial 

setting. "Custody" for Miranda purposes is narrowly circumscribed and 

requires formal arrest or requires that a person's freedom of action or 

movement be curtailed to a degree associated with formal arrest. State v. 

Harris, 106 Wn.2d 784, 725 P.2d 975 (1986), cert denied 40 U.S. 940 

(1987), State v. Post, 118 Wn.2d 596, 606, 826 P.2d 172 (1992), citations 

omitted. The determination is an objective test--whether a reasonable 

person in a suspect's position would have felt that his or her freedom was 

curtailed to the degree associated with a formal arrest. State v. Heritage, 

152 Wn.2d 210, 218, 95 P.3d 345 (2004)(citing Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 

U.S. 420, 441-42,104 S.Ct. 3138, 82 L.Ed.2d 317 (1984». 
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a) The trial court's CrR 3.5 Findings of Fact 5, 15, 
19, and 28 are supported by substantial 
evidence. 

In reviewing the trial court's decision after a CrR 3.5 hearing this 

Court must determine if the findings of fact are supported by substantial 

evidence and whether those findings support the conclusions of law. State 

v. Broadaway, 133 Wn.2d 118, 130-131, 942 P.2d 363 (1997). 

"Substantial evidence exists where there is a sufficient quantity of 

evidence in the record to persuade a fair minded, rational person of the 

truth of the finding." State v. Piatnitsky, 170 Wn.App 195,221,282 P.3d 

1184 (2012), quoting State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 

(1994). A de novo determination is then made to determine if the trial 

court made proper conclusions of law from those findings. State v. 

Armenta, 132 Wn.2d 1, 9, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997). Credibility 

determinations are for the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal. 

State v. O'Neil, 126 Wn.App 395, 409,109 P.3d 429 (2005). 

The trial court's findings of fact are supported by substantial 

evidence. At no time on June 8,2012, or June 9, 2012, was the defendant 

in custody until he was formally arrested. No further questions were 

asked after the formal arrest. 

The initial conversation with Baker on June 8, 2012, with Det. 

Price lasted approximately one half hour and was conducted in a 

Page 20 



conference room with the door open. 4/16/13 RP 13-14. He was under no 

particular suspicion at the time. Id. 

Mr. Baker then agreed to meet Det. Price at his residence, and 

drove his own vehicle home with Ms. Schuldt. 4/16/13 RP 14-15. Baker 

gathered up some laptops and brought them to the kitchen where they 

looked at information and continued to discuss Kathie's disappearance. 

8/16/13 RP 15-16. 

Baker consented to a search of the house after he was told he could 

refuse or limit the search. 8/16/13 RP 16-17. He agreed and began 

leading Det. Price through the house. Id. At one point he did limit the 

search and Det. Price and Deputy Haugen abided. 8/16/13 RP 17-18. 

Eventually, Lt. Tingstad, who arrived after Det. Price, believing he was 

now "investigating a criminal offense," read Mr. Baker his Miranda 

rights. 8/16/13 RP 35. When Mr. Baker stated he didn't want to answer 

any more questions, the questioning stopped. 8/16/13 RP 36-37. Mr. 

Baker was not arrested, he was simply told he could not go back in the 

house while deputies applied for a warrant. 8/16/13 RP 37-38. He 

eventually left the property in a taxi. 10 8/16/13 RP 39-40. 

10 Baker states Lt. Tingstad ordered Deputy Haugen to "guard" Baker. App Br. 6. This 
is incorrect, as Lt. Tingstad testified that he asked Haugen to "keep an eye on Mr. Baker 
from an officer safety standpoint." 8/16/13 RP 37. 
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No threats or promIses were made to Baker on June 8, 2012. 

8116/13 RP 18, 35. Baker appeared to understand the questions. Id. He 

was not handcuffed, placed in a patrol car, told he was under arrest. 

8116113 RP 38-39. Mr. Baker was with the deputies as they looked 

through the house and even gave orders not to look in Ms. Schultz's room 

Because Baker was not in custody, Lt. Tingstad was not required 

to inform Baker of his Miranda rights but did so out of an abundance of 

caution believing he might be investigating a murder. 

Nearly 18 hours after Mr. Baker rode away in a taxi, and nearly 21 

hours since Lt. Tingstad's last question, Mr. Baker was re-contacted at a 

motel room at noon the following day. 8116113 RP 41-42. The deputies 

asked if he would mind speaking to them and he agreed. 8116113 RP 41-

42. As he had no vehicle, he was given a ride, un-handcuffed, as a 

passenger. 8116/13 RP 63. He was offered water or coffee and sat in a 

conference room. 8116113 RP 43. No booking procedures were 

performed. 8116113 RP 42-54. Baker was not handcuffed. 8116113 RP 

53. Mr. Baker was provided with a Miranda waiver form which Baker 

and Lt. Tingstad read. 8116113 RP 43. Baker asked clarifying questions 

regarding his rights which Lt. Tingstad answered and he agreed to make a 

statement. 8116113 RP 45-46. He was given a choice of writing a 

statement or having Lt. Tingstad write what Baker told him. 8116113 RP 
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46-47. He was left alone in the conference room writing a statement with 

the door open until he said he was done approximately 20 minutes after 

Baker began. 8116113 RP 47-48. It cannot be said that Baker was being 

interrogated as he filled out a statement form by himself. 

Lt. Tingstad attempted to clarify Mr. Baker's written statement 

writing questions and answers all of which Baker initialed. 8116113 RP 

48-51. Further questions were asked and Mr. Baker was only arrested 

when he stated he did not want to answer any more questions. 8116113 RP 

53. The entire contact at the precinct was approximately one hour. 

8116113 RP 52. No threats or promises were made to Baker and he 

appeared to understand both the waiver and the questions. 8116113 RP 52-

53. 

Substantial evidence exists to support the trial courts findings that 

Baker was not in custody until he was formally arrested at the end of 

questioning on June 9, 2012. 

I I 

I I 

I I 
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B. In The Alternative, If The Defendant Was In Custody, 
The Defendant's Invocation Of His Right To Remain 
Silent Was Scrupulously Honored By Law Enforcement 
And Therefore Statements Made By The Defendant 
After He Later Waived His Right To Remain Silent 
Were Properly Admissible. lI 

The rule in Miranda requires that "interrogation must cease" 

once a defendant who is in custody has received warnings and indicates 

that he wishes to remain silent. Michigan v. Mosley, 423 U.S. 96, at 100-

101 (1975). However, the requirement that interrogation cease does not 

"create a per se proscription of indefinite duration upon any further 

questioning by any police officer on any subject once the person III 

custody has indicated a desire to remain silent." 423 U.S. at 102-103. In 

Mosley, "the admissibility of statements obtained after the person III 

custody has decided to remain silent depends under Miranda on whether 

his 'right to cut off questioning' was 'scrupulously honored.'" 423 U.S. at 

104. 

The police in Mosley "immediately ceased the (initial) 

interrogation, resumed questioning only after the passage of a significant 

period of time and the provision of a fresh set of warnings, and restricted 

the second interrogation to a crime that had not been the subject of the 

11 The trial court made alternative conclusions oflaw (7, 8, and 9), concluding that in the 
alternative, if the defendant did invoke his rights on June 8, 2012, his invocation was 
scrupulously honored by stopping questioning, passage of a cooling off period and the 
providing of a fresh set of Miranda warnings. 
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earlier interrogation." 423 U.S. at 1 06. Under those circumstances, the 

Court observed, it could not be said that "the police failed to honor the 

decision of a person in custody to cut off questioning, either by refusing to 

discontinue the interrogation upon request or by persisting in repeated 

efforts to wear down his resistance and make him change his mind." 423 

U.S. at 105-106. 

Mosley did not limit the admissibility of custodial statements to 

those situations in which the renewed questioning concerned a "crime that 

had not been the subject of the earlier interrogation." 423 U.S. at 106. 

Rather, the key to admissibility under Mosley is the absence of evidence of 

"attempted persuasion" -- either in the forn1 of a refusal to discontinue 

questioning or of efforts to wear down the suspect's resistance through 

repeated efforts at interrogation - to "induce (a defendant) not to invoke 

his right to remain silent." Jackson v. Wyrick, 730 F.2d 1177, 1180 (8th 

Cir.), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 849 (1984). Under the analysis prescribed by 

the Court in Mosley, "it is not decisive that the interrogations covered the 

San1e crime," since that factor, standing alone, is relatively unimportant in 

assessing whether untoward persuasion to break the defendant's resistance 

has been exerted. Kelly v. Lynaugh, 862 F.2d 1126, 1131 (5th Cir. 1988). 

The United States courts of appeals have consistently found 

custodial statements to be admissible under Mosley even when the 
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questioning pertained to the same offense that was the subject of an earlier 

interrogation session at which the defendant invoked his right to silence. 

See United States v. Hsu, 852 F.2d 407,409-412 (9th Cir. 1988); Jackson 

v. Dugger, 837 F.2d 1469, 1471-1472 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 108 S. Ct. 

2005 (1988); Hill v. Kemp, 833 F.2d 927, 929 (11 th Cir. 1987); Grooms v. 

Keeney, 826 F.2d 883, 885-886 (9th Cir. 1987); Jackson v. Wyrick, 730 

F.2d at 1179-1180; United States v. Bosby, 675 F.2d 1174,1181-1182 

(5th Cir. 1982). As these courts have stated, it is more significant to the 

Mosley analysis that there has been a "cooling off period," Hill v. Kemp, 

833 F.2d at 929, or that a "fresh set of warnings" have been given, United 

States v. Hsu, 852 F.2d at 411, than that the two interrogations pertain to 

different crimes. 

Washington courts follow the above reasomng. In State v. 

Robbins, 15 Wn.App 108,547 P.2d 108 (1976), a suspect was arrested on 

a Friday and taken to the police station where the suspect signed a 

Miranda waiver but then invoked her right to remain silent by refusing to 

answer any questions. Id, at 109. Baker was then taken to jail. !d. No 

further questions were asked of the defendant until the following Monday 

when the same officer contacted the defendant at the jail and again 

informed her of her Miranda warnings. !d. The suspect signed a Miranda 

rights waiver and wrote and signed a confession. !d. The defendant 
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challenged the trial court finding that the confession was admissible under 

Miranda v. Arizona. The trial court finding was upheld on appeal with the 

court explaining that police immediately cut off questioning on Friday 

when the defendant refused to answer questions and there was no evidence 

that the police usurped her free will in the intervening two days at the jail 

prior to fresh Miranda warnings being given. Id at 110. The court found 

that the defendant's right to cut off questioning was scrupulously honored 

and that: "Nothing in the record even suggests that the questioning 

sessions held on Friday and Monday constituted a situation in which 

Robbins was denied her right to remain silent because the police refused to 

take 'no ' for and answer." Id at 110-111. 

In the case at bar, the trial court properly held in its alternative 

conclusions of law, that if Baker did invoke his right to remain silent on 

June 8, 2012, it was scrupulously honored and his waiver of his right to 

remain silent the following day was knowingly, intelligently and 

voluntarily made after a substantial cooling off period wherein the 

defendant was not in custody. For instance, once Baker indicated that he 

did not want to answer any more questions, all questioning terminated. 

8116113 RP 37. Importantly, unlike any of the above cases, Mr. Baker 

was not placed in custody and eventually left the crime scene in a taxi. 

8116113 RP 39-40. Apparently, Baker spent the night at a local hotel, 
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where he was eventually re-contacted by Lt. Tingstad and Deputy Haugen 

the following day. 8116/13 RP 40-41, 4 RP 546-547. 

Baker was provided with fresh Miranda warnings. 8116113 RP 45-

46. ld. Lastly, there was a nearly 21 hour break between the defendant's 

assertion on June 8, 2012, that he did not want to answer any more 

questions and the fresh set of Miranda warnings on June 9, 2012. 12 

Importantly, unlike the cases cited above, Baker was not placed or 

held in custody in the intervening period between asserting his right to 

remain silent and re-contact the following day. He was free to go 

anywhere except for inside his residence. He was not subject to the 

restraints associated with formal arrest. Further, it cannot be said that the 

police overbore his will and would not take "no" for an answer when he 

left the scene with a credit card and identification in a taxi and apparently 

spent the night at a motel. His right to remain silent was scrupulously 

honored as required under Mosley. Baker was provided fresh Miranda 

warnings on June 9, 2012. The verbal and written statements made by Mr. 

Baker on June 9, 2012, were properly ruled to be admissible under Mosley 

in the courts alternative conclusions of law. 

/ / 

12 At trial the defendant admitted he was not under any pressure to answer questions. 6 
RP 1025. 
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The defendant cites to Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 485, 101 

S. Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981), to argue that police cannot resume 

questioning about the same criminal investigation unless initiated by the 

accused. Edwards is not applicable to the case at bar. In Edwards, the 

accused requested an attorney at which time questioning ceased. Id at 

477. However, without making an attorney available, police resumed 

questioning at the jail. Id. Edwards held that if a suspect requested 

counsel he could not be re-interviewed absent either initiation by the 

suspect or counsel being made available. Edwards, 451 U.S. at 484 - 485. 

At no time did the defendant assert his right to counsel. As the 

court in Mosley recognized, if an accused asserts only a right to remain 

silent and not a right to counsel, police may resume questioning after a 

cooling off period and fresh set of Miranda warnings. Mosley, 423 U.S. 

105-106. 

I. In the Alternative, if the Defendant s Statements Made 
on June 9, 2012, Were Improperly Admitted, the 
Admission Constituted Harmless Error. 

"Harn1less error analysis applies to erroneous admissions of 

statements made in violation of Miranda." State v. Nysta, 168 Wn.App 30, 

43, 275 P.3 1162 (2012) citations omitted. A constitutional error is 

harmless if the reviewing court is satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that 
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any reasonable jury would have reached the same verdict without the 

error. State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425,705 P.2d 1182 (1985). 

There was overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt absent 

his statements on June 9, 2012. Baker was the only one to have a motive 

to kill Kathie. He was enthralled with another woman who arrived the day 

after Kathie was last seen. Ms. Schuldt had been told that Kathie now 

lived in Colorado and that the defendant and Kathie had divorced. The 

murder weapon was found in the trash at the defendant's residence with 

his DNA on the handle. Baker was sleeping in a bedroom and bed which 

were saturated with Kathie's blood and had told an employee that he was 

taking Kathie to the airport which was proved false by the video from the 

ferry terminal. 

2. Article L Section 9 provides no greater protection than 
provided by the federal constitution. 

Baker argues that Article I, Section 9 of the Washington State 

Constitution is more protective of the right to remain silent than the 5th 

Amendment of the United States Constitution. The defendant is incorrect. 

It is well settled in that the protections offered by the two provisions are 

the same.

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